

"Once there was a girl who was born in jail..."

- A narrative study of a group of children of incarcerated parents in India

Social Work, Bachelor Programme for Professional Degree

Bachelor's thesis

Author: Hanna Johansson

Supervisor: Ing-Marie Johansson

Autumn 2011

Abstract

Title: "Once there was a girl who was born in jail..." - A narrative study of a group of

children of incarcerated parents in India

Author: Hanna Johansson

Keywords: "Parental incarceration", "Meaning-making", "Coping", "Out-of-home care"

This study investigates how a group of children of incarcerated parents in India make meaning in their lives and how India Vision Foundation affects their meaning-making process. The empirical data is in the form of life stories and observations. Using Narrative Analysis, Coping Theory and Human Ecology Theory, the data is analysed. The study shows that the children express relations, education and future goals as the most important factors in their meaning making. These values coincide with the efforts of India Vision Foundation. The study also shows that India Vision Foundation intervenes in and affects the children's lives on several different levels, which makes India Vision Foundation a vital aspect of the children's meaning making.

I would like to thank the entire staff at India Vision Foundation for taking me along and for sharing their thoughts so generously. In particular Pearly Paul and Ruchika Nigam took me under their wings and guided me through the intense experience of observing the CVF project. I would also like to thank my dear friend Anurag Zomuana for his constant feedback and moral support. Evelyn Jones deserves a big thank you as well for her linguistic advise and general feedback. Last, but definitely not least, I would like to thank my supervisor Ing-Marie Johansson for encouraging this unorthodox way of research and challenging me to make the best analysis that I can make from the material.

Table of Contents

1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Purpose of Study	2
1.2 RESEARCH QUESTIONS	2
2. DISPOSITION	3
3. THE LOCAL CONTEXT	3
3.1 Indian society	
3.2 SLUMS	
3.3 COLLECTIVISM	4
3.4 FAMILY STRUCTURE	4
3.5 LITERACY	5
3.6 CRIMINALITY	5
3.7 SOCIAL WORK IN INDIA	6
3.8 SOCIAL MOBILITY	
4. PREVIOUS RESEARCH	7
5. METHOD	9
5.1 SCIENTIFIC APPROACH	
5.2 Selections	10
5.3 Observations	11
5.4 LIFE STORIES	12
5.5 LITERATURE	13
5.6 LIMITATIONS	14
5.7 VALIDITY, RELIABILITY AND GENERALIZABILITY	15
5.8 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	16
5.9 My role as the researcher	19
6. ANALYTICAL FRAMEWORK – DEFINITION OF THEORIES AND CONCEPT	TS20
6.1 COPING THEORY	20
6.1.1 Meaning-making	20
6.2 THE HUMAN ECOLOGY THEORY	21
6.3 Narratology	22
6.3.1 Tellability	23
7. EMPIRICAL RESULTS AND ANALYSIS	23
7.1 OBSERVATIONS	23
7.2 LIFE STORIES	26
7.2.1 Mention of future goals	
7.2.2 Mention of incarceration	
7.2.3 Mention of family	
7.2.4 Using friend as main feature	
7.2.5 Mention of school	
7.2.6 Switching to first-person	30
9 CONCLUDING DEMARKS TO THE STUDY	20

9. BIBLIOGRAPHY	34
9.1 Books	34
9.2 Articles	
9.3 Internet sources	35
10. APPENDIX	36

1. Introduction

The girl who started her story with the line I chose for the title is 11 years old and presently stays at a boarding school outside Delhi together with 32 other girls between the ages 6-16. All of these children have parents who are or have been imprisoned and most of the children have themselves stayed with their parents in jail until the age of 5. Out of these 33 girls, 27 shared their life stories. This study was conducted in spring 2011 in New Delhi, the capital of India and home to Asia's biggest prison.

After visiting India five years ago, I have always wanted to go back. Within my Social Work studies in Sweden I was an intern at an institution for families with infants where parenting abilities are evaluated and supported. My time at the institution has provided me with great interest in parenthood. When considering the impact of parenthood, one cannot refrain from thinking of children who are separated from their parents. At the Department of Social Work, guest lecturers have come to talk about the situation for children of incarcerated parents. These children often struggle with the reactions of adults around them concerning their parents' situation. Although the adults are aware of the separation being difficult for the child, it is caused by the parents doing something society deems *wrong*. The reactions must thereby depend upon the surrounding society's norms and values. Seeing as the child's situation is highly dependent on the societal and cultural context, I found it interesting to investigate the situation of children in another cultural context than my own. In India I met both charming children and hard-working and dedicated social workers. Children of incarcerated parents in India are a group whose voice is not often heard in society. With this thesis I want to give them the chance to tell the stories of their lives.

Children without parents are in general a vulnerable group. Indian children of incarcerated parents might suffer from societal exclusion because of stigma, financial problems since their guardian is not able to provide for them and many other difficulties. The support is very much depending on NGO:s rather than government resources, but not all Indian children whose parents are incarcerated are reached by these organisations. In this study I have met children who are fortunate enough to be included in the efforts of India Vision Foundation. India Vision Foundation (which will from here on be referred to as IVF) is an NGO founded by Dr Kiran Bedi in 1994. The main objectives of IVF are social mobility for children, prison

reforms, police reforms, rural and community development and women empowerment. Each of these objectives holds one or more projects. My main focus in this thesis is the project called the Children of Vulnerable Families project (it will from here on be referred to as the CVF project). The project aims to help children whose parents are or have been imprisoned. These children are at higher risk than children in India in general to suffer from illiteracy, lifelong stigma and lacking social security. IVF provides the children with schooling, boarding, other financial support and counselling. While making these efforts in direct relation to the children, IVF also engages parents, relatives, school staff and prison authorities. The main activities included in the CVF project are school visits, home visits, prison visits and exposure trips. At present there are 190 children involved in the project. (India Vision Foundation 2011-04-20) When IVF engages in a child, they do it long-term. If the child's parent(s) are released from jail, the child is still included in the CVF project up until the age of 16 years old. This means that some of the children live at boarding schools even though their parents are living at home. This has got to do with both practical (geographical) factors and socio-economic situations, as the areas where these children come from are often dangerous to live in. These areas often have a high crime rate and poor living conditions (concerning hygiene, diseases etc.).

1.1 Purpose of Study

The purpose of this study is to investigate how the CVF children make meaning in their lives and how IVF contributes to this meaning making. The study is performed using participant observations and children's life stories. By analysing the information using Narrative Analysis, Coping Theory and Human Ecology Theory, conclusions are possible to make about the children's meaning making. I intend to investigate how the children view their reality.

1.2 Research Questions

- How do the children tell the stories of their lives? Which factors do they find important enough to include?
- How do the children make meaning in their lives in relation to their stories?
- How does India Vision Foundation contribute to these children's meaning making?

2. Disposition

First of all I will describe the local context in order to provide the reader with some background understanding to the research. After that I will present previous research that makes a background to the empirical part of the study. Following that, the research method will be described and analysed. After that I will describe the theoretical framework. Finally the results will be presented, analysed and discussed referring back to previous research.

3. The local context

3.1 Indian society

Larsson, Lilja and Mannheimer write about the importance of not only understanding the informants' life situation, but also the specific culture and the historical process that has shaped the cultural patterns of the informants environment (Larsson&Lilja&Mannheimer 2005). The Indian anthropologist Saraswati goes as far as saying that "the structure of a culture remains a meaningless entity so long as its function is unexplained" (Jha 1994:158). In terms of global meaning-making, context is vital. I can of course not give a full picture of the context of the informants' lives, but I will try to draw a background of the society in which the study was performed. It is also necessary considering the impact of culture on choice of coping strategy (Chen 2011-09-18) and how the prerequisites that children face differ according to context (Balagopalan 2011-09-18). The Indian society is incredibly complex. Indian Professor of Sociology and social analyst Nagla claims that it has developed from "monarchy, feudalism, colonialism to democracy" (Nagla 2008:1). This development has evolved differently in different parts of the country. Having travelled widely in the country during my stay, I have become even more convinced than before that it is impossible to talk about one Indian society, as it consists of so many cultures separated by traditions, religions, politics and geography. What I can do is talk about the immediate surrounding for my study, namely the North Indian urban society in which the IVF perform their work.

3.2 Slums

Gupta defines slums as densely habited areas with implications of poverty, which suffer from "demoralization sliding into crime" (Gupta 2004:147). This is the reality for the informants of the study. I have myself visited one of the slums in which some informants live. The situation included a very low degree of hygiene and a high degree of both poverty and crowdedness.

Although there are several NGO:s working in the slums of Delhi, schooling is no guarantee for the children growing up in these areas.

3.3 Collectivism

Indian Doctor of Social Work Kumar explains collectivism as the "supremacy of the society and lesser importance of individual interest vis-a-vis social interest" and an "ideal of interdependence" (Kumar 1994:4). Collectivism is generally used as a contrast to the western ideology of individualism. Besides from collectivism the terms familism and holism, which are merely different in nuance from the term collectivism, can be found in the literature. Indian Professor of Anthropology Das tells us how Indian society is based on traditions and values of hierarchy and holism (Das 2004:21). In collectivistic cultures the fear of exclusion keeps the group members "in their places". If you do not have the group, you have nothing. (Barker-Hackett&Mio&Tumambing 2009) In many cases collectivism coincides with distrust in authorities. The group is the safety net and being part of it is vital. Indian culture being collectivistic, it is very unfortunate for the children of this study to bear a stigma that might lead to their exclusion. A typical feature of collectivistic cultures is the fear of "losing face", meaning to be embarrassed, humiliated etc. For this reason insulting someone to their face (especially in front of others) is avoided as far as possible. A phenomenon that occurs in collectivistic cultures is that individuals are sometimes defined by their group rather than their individual characteristics (Barker-Hackett&Mio&Tumambing 2009). The children of this study might thereby be defined by their parents' criminal actions even though they themselves have never committed a crime.

3.4 Family structure

Indian Professor of Sociology Uberoi writes that family is widely seen as the primary agency of socialization (Uberoi 2004). I will report shortly about the institution of family in India. Although the major part of the indigenous literature I have read presents the institution of family as threatened by modernization processes and imported ideals of individualism, consumerism and market relationships, Indian Emeritus Professor of Sociology Singh mentions the resilience of the traditional Indian family (Singh 2000). My observations also clearly indicate that the extended family is strong in India, contrasting the nuclear family of the Western world. Uberoi quotes Karves definition of the joint family as "a group of people who generally live under the same roof, who eat food cooked on one hearth, ... hold property in common and ... participate in common family worship and are related to each other as

some particular type of kin" (Uberoi 2004: 277). This definition is not perfect, as families can still be defined as joint without meeting all these criteria. Uberoi asks if maybe we should talk about the joint household disintegrating rather than the joint family doing so. (Uberoi 2004) I have heard several people describe their interconnectedness with their relatives no matter the geographical distance. So the modernization, globalization and migration that is going on might not affect the family structures as much as is sometimes suspected. There are, tradition and affectionate reasons aside, other reasons such as joint business and property interests that may incite the continuation of the joint family (Uberoi 2004). Tax claims that "the best, if not the only way to test a hypothesis concerning a group's perception of a situation, is to change the situation in terms of the hypothesis" (Tax 2009: 79). By asking Indian people about their perceptions of European family structure, I learned a lot about their perceptions of their own structures. What I found was a strong norm of interdependence within the extended family and a respect for elders, which they believe contrast the family norm in the West. The Indian family structure will probably affect the outcome of separation between child and parent(s), but this I am not qualified to analyse.

3.5 Literacy

"Education is considered to be the most important ladder of social mobility" (Chattoraj 2006:31). Educational deprivation for an Indian is a many-sided burden affecting their employment opportunities, social mobility, health and resilience towards corruption (Drèze 2004). For this reason the CVF children are provided with schooling. In the parent-teacher meeting I observed, several of the parents were illiterate, and some of them so to the extent that they could not write their signature and needed to instead leave their fingerprints. Drèze mentions the following causes for educational deprivation: economic deprivation, school quality and parental motivation. The economic reason consists not only of school fees, but sometimes also loss of income as the alternative might be the children doing labour. Lack of parental motivation is often a matter of education not being valued highly, as people struggle to see the fruits of it (Drèze 2004).

3.6 Criminality

Crime is one of the mentioned social problems in Indian Professor of Sociology Ahuja's book Social problems in India (1997). Let me first of all define a social problem. Ahuja suggests different definitions, which all have in common that the problem is on a social and not an individual level, and that solving the problem also needs to be done on that level. Social

problems are formulated within societies, and are defined by those societies' values and institutions. Crime can be defined in different ways and interpreted with several different approaches. A selection of explanations might be biological, psycho-pathological, economic, topographical and environmental. Ahuja explains "slums, unemployment, crimes, delinquencies" as being "urban problems which are generally the result of intolerable living conditions" (Ahuja 1997:20). He mentions the poverty dimensions lack of livelihood strategies, inaccessibility to resources (money, land, credit) and feeling of insecurity and frustrations (Ahuja 1997). The approach that seems to be the base for the work of the IVF is a multiple-factor one with an emphasis on the social and economic explanations, as the work is aiming to enhance the children's possibilities for the future and provide them with an alternative social context. The most common crimes committed by the parents of the study's informants are murder and drug-dealing. The murders are in most cases based on marital disputes or property disputes. During recent years the situation for criminals in India has changed, with factors such as improvement of the conditions in prisons and humanizing of the deviant (Ahuja 1997). Dr Kiran Bedi, the founder of IVF is personally responsible for revolutionizing Delhi's Tihar jail and has made an immense contribution to humanizing the convicts in the eyes of society.

3.7 Social work in India

Kumar argues in her book Social Work – an experience and experiment in India (1994) that although the tradition of solidarity and social service runs way back in Indian history, the modern scientific and professional social work is an imported one. Kumar accredits this to the industrialization and urbanization process that has taken place in the last century. She claims that social welfare in India in the past has been "basically non-secular, whimsical, sporadic and according to the choice of the provider" (Kumar 1994:3). Kumar mentions, amongst others, the following definition of social work: "a professional activity of helping individuals, groups or communities to enhance or restore their capacity for social functioning and creating social conditions favourable to this goal" (Kumar 1994:8). Kumar further suggests that the needing and deprived people were needed to stay that way in order to enable the more fortunate people to enhance their karma by making good deeds. By saying this, she implies that there might traditionally have been a stronger emphasis on *caring* than *curing* and *changing*. Caring, curing and changing are mentioned as the three major incentives of social work (Kumar 1994).

3.8 Social mobility

"There are no known societies today that are not stratified in one form or another" (Gupta 2004:121). India's caste system is one of the most well-known systems for social stratification in the world, and also one of the more clearly defined. In the past it was a strict way of controlling and disabling social mobility (Gupta 2004). Because of occupational and technocultural changes in India, linkages between castes have been promoted. Although many people believe that the caste system is a past phenomenon, it is very much still in practice (Singh 2000). I have received the information first hand on how inter-caste marriages are unacceptable in some areas, to the extent that they sometimes are followed by honour killings. In Delhi, where my research is performed, I was told that caste no longer is an issue in everyday life. The only time I saw caste being a part of the IVF work, it was in order to take advantage of affirmative-action concerning schooling, university etc. Paradoxically people these days can use a lower-caste background to enhance their social mobility. One can expect affirmative-action to give the caste system a function and a perk for even the lower castes, which might keep the stratification system alive. I was also informed that groups of people go to great measures in order to devaluate their caste level, in order to enjoy the benefits of belonging to a lower-caste. Other factors except from caste come into play when talking about social mobility in the Indian society. The cost of schooling, unemployment and stigma are a few. All of these factors are included in the efforts provided for the CVF children (India Vision Foundation 2011-04-20).

4. Previous research

I will in this section present research from both India and Western countries to provide a background and a context for the empirics in this thesis. It was difficult to find information about the life conditions for children of incarcerated parents. However, there is extensive research to be found about orphans and street children. The children in this study have little in common with these children since they live in a safe place at the boarding school, and since their parents are still alive and more or less available.

B.N. Chattoraj published Children of Women prisoners in Indian Jails in 2006. In this study no children were interviewed, and the information is collected solely from mothers, wardens and official statistics. Chattoraj tells how the Indian Juvenile Justice Act section 2 aiming at five types of neglected children leaves children living in jail out of its target. Chattoraj also

describes how the children who are raised in jail in India do not get to see the world outside of the prison walls. The norm is for children up to the age of 5 years old to stay with their parents, but there are cases of 9-year olds still living inside the jail. Chattoraj points out that it might have a devastating effect on children not to see animals, parks or let alone society outside the prison walls before the age of 5. Chattoraj writes that these children's socialization patterns can fail to prepare them for middle class school, which might lead to teacher disappointment and labelling. This then leads to the child suffering from feelings of inadequacy, which might in turn lead to the child choosing a criminal way of life. Concerning the practical conditions, the mothers in the study explained how they found the amount of food insufficient. In many cases the children were not given any food and were left to share their mothers' food. Many nursing mothers also told that they were not given any extra food to cover their increased need for it. As many as 93% of the mothers believe that the jail environment has a negative impact on their children's mental development (Chattoraj 2006).

Juringe and Svensson studied Swedish social service's work with children of inacarcerated parents. Juringe and Svensson's conclusions concerning the impact of parental incarceration include that there are specific conditions that come with separation caused by incarceration compared to other separations (for example death or divorce), such as the surrounding adults' reactions and support. Incarceration bearing a stigma, the children might not get the same amount of support as they would have, had the separation had other reasons (Riksbryggan 1 2011-04-20). Another study that shows similar results is one made by Karlsson (Riksbryggan 2 2011-04-20), where he has compiled research on children of incarcerated parents. Comparing the situations these children face in Sweden and England, he finds that outcome of parental incarceration depends strongly on the surrounding society (Riksbryggan 2 2011-04-20).

Examining the influence of cultural factors on coping strategies, Chen found apparent differences between U.S. informants and Chinese informants concerning the choice between emotion-focused and problem-focused coping strategies connected to factors such as self-construal and religion. (Chen 2011-09-18) This shows that culture influences the choice of coping strategy. For that reason it would be inappropriate, maybe even misleading, to look too much upon the coping strategies of children in similar situations in other cultural contexts.

This makes a lot of the existing research on children of incarcerated parents inappropriate, as most of it focuses on children in American or European societies.

Balagopalan uses the term "multiple childhoods" to describe the multitude of life conditions of Indian children. This is done to avoid childhood "essentialism" where an "ideal" child is assumed. Although there is an official legal content with the Western world's definition of childhood expanding until the age of 18, it is a well-known fact that such a definition does not apply to reality in many non-Western areas. How a "child" is defined differs according to context. There are huge differences in life conditions between children in India today. Factors such as social class, geography, religion and ethnicity come into play. The life of a street child is very different from the life of a middle-class child. Thus it is impossible to describe one Indian childhood, and the term "multiple childhood" is needed (Balagopalan 2011-09-18).

Indian psychoanalyst Kakar explains how "While the 20th-century West has wrenched philosophy, history and other human concerns out of integrated narrative structures to form the discourse of isolated social sciences, the preferred medium of instruction and transmission of psychological, metaphysical, and social thought in India continues to be the story" (Kakar 1996:5). He argues that the story with its "metaphoric richness" perhaps gives a more accurate insight into "the core of man's spirit" (Kakar 1996:6). He further talks about how narrative research is now spreading also in the West with the thought that "narrative thinking – 'storying' – is not only a successful method (...) it is the most effective" (Kakar 1996:7) method for qualitative research. Kakar has made clear that story-telling as a research method is especially appropriate in an Indian context (Kakar 1996).

5. Method

The material which this thesis is built upon was gathered by the two main methods observations and life stories. Additional information was gathered through informal conversations and literature. Nagla mentions contextualization and indigenization as two of the main issues within the contemporary discourses in Indian sociology of today. He refers to Mukerjee when he claims that "Ideology, theory and method are related to the context. Without the context there is no relevance of any ideology, theory or method" (Nagla 2008:356). Nagla further refers to Atal when mentioning positive aspects of indigenization such as improving the quality of professional praxis and the opposition to "false

universalism", meaning assumptions that all cultures contain the same behaviours. Atal's suggestions for pursuing indigenization involve two aspects which I have used: the use of local materials and methodological reorientation. (Nagla 2008) My method of collecting the life stories in the shape of fairy-tales was inspired by Sudhir Kakar's report on how story-telling has been and still is an accepted part of Indian research, contrasting its Western counterpart (Kakar 1996). The choice of method has been further encouraged by noticing how common references to myths and stories are in scientific literature.

The observations have two functions: they grant me a background understanding and a relationship with the informants as well as serving as research material. Kerlinger stresses the importance of the researcher bearing the analysis in mind all through the research process (Kerlinger 2010), which I have tried to do. By analysing the data myself and in discussions with others during the entire process of the study, the research has been kept focused on the research questions.

5.1 Scientific Approach

The research has been performed in an explorative manner. The material I have found and the advice from people around me have greatly influenced my collection of information and analysis. The study is performed hermeneutically, as I analyse how the informants view their own situation. My wish is for the life stories to go through the whole three-step hermeneutic process of (1) the informants' interpretation of their reality, (2) my interpretation of what the informants express and (3) potentially a change in how the informants are perceived by society (Brinkmann&Kvale 2009).

5.2 Selections

The group that is being researched in this study consists of children involved in the CVF project. After taking into account age, gender, language barriers and availability when selecting, the group consists of 27 girls in the ages 7-15 who all go to the same school. All members of the group have been with the IVF project since below the age of 5. The school where the life stories were collected was a school for girls. There are boys in other schools connected to the CVF project. The living conditions in the schools are similar. Divided into age groups (in order to keep the confidentiality I prefer to group them together) the selection consists of eight 7-9 year olds, thirteen 10-12 year olds and six 13-15 year olds. The target

group has been presented to me by IVF. My contact person and I have discussed all aspects we have come to think of in order to get the best possible selections for the life stories.

5.3 Observations

The first step in my gathering of information was to join the organization for some of their various activities. During three weeks I joined the IVF staff on five school visits, one parentteacher meeting and one community visit. The aim of the observations was on one hand to build a background understanding of the children's situation and the work of IVF, and on the other hand to build a relationship with the children in order for them to trust me enough to tell me their stories. I was advised to do so by my contact person at the organization. Kvale suggests building an appropriate relationship with the informants in order to get meaningful information (Brinkmann&Kvale 2009). When I performed the observations I realized that they gave me a massive amount of material to work with. One of the advantages of observation as a research method is the flexibility it offers when it comes to alteration of research strategy (May 2001). The observations guided me in both research design and analysis. Within the observations I had the chance to observe the IVF praxis. Praxis can be described as generalized and structured actions and interaction that are part of continuous chains of actions aiming for certain goals. Practical actions are the primary way of handling surrounding world. Reflection and theory is the intellectual counterpart (Retzlaff&Thomassen 2007). My observations have consisted of both observing the IVF staff in action during the various activities, and by listening to their reflections about their work during the hours spent travelling to and from the activities. Out of the five school visits, three were made to the same school, which also was the school where the life stories were collected. I had planned for the observations to be passive from my side, but they turned out on the contrary. My role was quite participative, as I was talking, playing, having tea etc. with the children during the visits. As DeWalt and DeWalt (2002) point out, everyday social interaction naturally includes both participation and observation. What signifies the research method of participant observation (as opposed to the everyday practice) is the explicit recording and analysing of the information that is gained and the systematic use of the information for scientific purposes. Participant observation is defined by the researcher joining the informants in their natural habitat while recognizing the influence of the researcher's participation in the situation and keeping an analytic mindset (DeWalt&DeWalt 2002). The information is preferably recorded in field notes, which are analysed during and after the process of observation (DeWalt&DeWalt 2002, May 2001). After each day spent with the IVF staff I wrote notes on courses of events, conversations and whatever reflections I had. When analysing the information, I focused on how IVF affects the informants' meaning-making processes.

5.4 Life stories

The life stories were told in the shape of fairy-tales. I was told that the children were already tired of being interviewed by students and researchers before I started my research, but the organization was still interested in evaluating the children's CVF experience. So I figured the fairy-tale form would be a "softer" way for the informants to give out information. The decision to collect the information in writing was made on the grounds of several reasons: it saves the children from seeing the reactions of the receiver (me), it allows increased anonymity, it saves time and it allows me to handle greater amounts of material. By asking the children to tell their stories in the shape of fairy-tales (including telling it in third-person, inventing all names and giving them the freedom to manipulate the details, see appendix for complete instructions), my hope was that the children would experience a sense of distance to their own stories and freedom from some loyalty conflicts, which might allow them to be more honest. I also tried to give them the agency to choose how to tell their stories without being held back by what they might think is expected of them to tell.

The story writing was unprepared from the children's side and took one hour. Because of surroundings and time range, it was impossible to keep the informants separated from each other while writing their stories. They sometimes helped each other in finding the right words. A few of the younger children needed help to write and translate. An IVF staff member helped them, but assured me that the words were the children's own, why the grammar is a bit off and there is no flow to the story. In other words, she did not try to enhance the stories in any way. I was very clear about the stories having to be their own individual ones. Some of the informants were reluctant to participate when the assignment was presented to them, however most of them felt safe enough to participate when I assured them that I know nothing of their personal background and would not possibly be able to make out who wrote which story. In order to analyse the stories I categorized them. I then cross-checked the data to find possible correlations. I did not know what to expect from the stories, so I had to read them before finding suitable categories. Kerlinger gives five rules for categorization of information:

- 1. Categories are set up according to research problem and purpose.
- 2. The categories are exhaustive (all objects fit into one of the categories).
- 3. The categories are mutually exclusive and independent (no object can be placed in more than one category and no object can affect the categorisation of another object).
- 4. Each category is derived from one classification principle (no more than one variable per category).
- 5. Any categorization scheme must be made on one level of discourse (be clear about which variable is being discussed).

(Kerlinger 2010:137)

I have followed these rules in categorizing the data in the life stories. The one thing I struggled with was rule number 3, as it was sometimes hard to evaluate the mention of certain topics as more or less important for the story. Some informants used more words when mentioning the topics than others did. Because of the variety in age among the informants and the language barrier, it is problematic to compare the depth of the parts where the topics are mentioned. In the end, I decided to go strictly with mention whatsoever without minding the impact on the story in total. The categories I chose for the material are:

- 1. Mention of future
- 2. Mention of incarceration
- 3. Mention of school
- 4. Mention of family
- 5. Using friends as main feature
- 6. Switching to first-person telling
- 7. Age
- 8. Number of words

Deciding to collect the information in writing was hopefully beneficial to receiving the children's stories as *they* want to tell them. Kvale warns about using leading questions when collecting information from children and about children being prone to letting themselves be guided by the adult researcher's reactions (Brinkmann&Kvale 2009). Collecting the information in writing allows for a minimum of impact of my own reactions when receiving the stories, as I have no chance to give any back-channel utterances (Elliot 2005). The

patterns of back-channel strategies differ according to context, and I suspect I might have influenced the story-telling unknowingly if I had had the chance to react.

5.5 Literature

I have chosen to use some indigenous literature. Before writing this thesis, I was not too familiar with Indian scholars. In order to find appropriate Indian literature I have considered the year of publication and the author's background and profession. Useful Indian literature has covered topics such as Social Problems, Social Work, Sociology, Anthropology, Criminology and Research Methodology. I have also used European and American literature on Methodology and Narratology. The research on children of incarcerated parents has been both Indian and European. As I have discussed earlier, the problem being researched depends a lot on the surrounding society. For this reason it might be problematic to lean too much upon literature focused on another cultural context.

5.6 Limitations

The most obvious limitation is that of conducting research in a foreign context. To meet that limitation I have done my best to get into the culture by spending time in it, asking questions about things I do not understand and discussing aspects of the culture which I have found strange, so as to eliminate misunderstandings as far as possible. I have in total spent 9 weeks living together with an Indian friend in India. He has been there for any need of explanation, feedback or advice that I have had at any point of the research process. There is also a chance that I can bring another perspective to the research, one that an Indian researcher would not have had.

One of the most important aspects when handling the foreign context is defining myself, the researcher, to show what type of a filter I am in the analysis of the results. This I try to do as clearly as possible in the section *My role as the researcher*.

Another limitation is the language barrier. I speak English fluently, but English is not my first language. The children are all taught in English. Although many children speak English well, with many of them their level is insufficient for the visits to be held completely in English. Parts of the school visits, home visits and parent-teacher meetings were instead held in Hindi, which I do not understand. Luckily I could get the staff to interpret whenever I felt the need to understand. A surprising side effect of the language barrier was that the times spent observing communication in a language I do not understand, forced and enabled me to focus on the non-

verbal communication. As English words were frequently used while speaking Hindi, I could follow the topics more or less. Concerning communicating in English with people who speak Hindi as their first-language, I have gotten some advice from a native English-speaking woman studying Hindi. She had found explanations to why Indian people sometimes express themselves in English in a way that she would misunderstand. One example is how she when an Indian person instead of saying that "he *is* late", says "lateness *happened* to him", interpreted it as him not taking responsibility for his delay. While learning Hindi she realized that the passive tense was used in other situations than it would in English. Bearing this in mind, I did not take into account the use of different grammatical forms in the children's stories when I analysed them. The aspect I have focused mostly upon when performing the narrative analysis is *tellability*. Choosing what is worth telling is linked to the possible quality of its manifestation (Hühn 2009). I worry that the informants might have excluded some information thinking they would not be able to tell it in an interesting way. This is due to both their own conception of their knowledge of the English language and their self-esteem.

The selections have limited the results that I have found. The life stories all come from *girls* from *one single school*. The selections omit all boys and all children attending other schools.

5.7 Validity, Reliability and Generalizability

Choosing to ask the informants to tell me their life stories as a fairy-tale was a risk. I was very clear about wanting *their* stories and no one else's, but I am in a position of not knowing what is factual and what is fictional. One girl asked if she could tell another story rather than her own, but I was strict about wanting her story or none at all. I was clear with the informants about what I wanted from them, and as in any research situation, I had to trust them. One of the conditions I gave was that the stories were to be told in third person. The fact that 4 of the informants on one or more occasions within their stories switched to first-person makes me confident that the stories are actually theirs. Hühn claims in his Handbook of Narratology that there is no one definition on the opposites fictional and factual. He also writes that a poststructuralist would criticize definitions of that difference claiming that every narrative is a human construction (Hühn 2009). My interest is in meaning-making, and what is most important to me is what the informants deem important enough to include. No matter the level of truth, what is included has what Jackson calls the "truth of utterance" (Jackson 2007). What I do know for sure is this: what is being mentioned is being mentioned.

Larsson, Lilja and Mannheimer explain validity in qualitative research as measurable by whether the reader is presented a clear image of what is being researched (Larsson&Lilja&Mannheimer 2005). In order to try to avoid misunderstanding and misinterpreting my information, I have been frequently asking my contacts at IVF and my other contacts in India questions to get feedback on the conclusions I make from the material. This has helped the validity of my research, as I have let their feedback further guide me in designing it. I have also strived to make the research transparent by defining myself and declaring the research process as clearly as possible. When the method was just formulated and I ran it by my contact person at the IVF, she told me that one of the children a while back had spontaneously showed her a story that she had written. Although it was written in fictional form, my contact person, knowing about this particular girl's background, was convinced that it was her own story. This assured me of the appropriateness of the method.

Balagopalan has pointed out how widely life conditions differ between children in different parts of the Indian society (2011). This makes generalization difficult. For this study's purpose, the informants are the universe as I am looking for their stories in particular. The stories are theirs and no one else's. To be able to say anything about the general situation for children of imprisoned parents in India, a bigger sample would be needed. This study can along with other studies be a part of a sample big enough to be the basis of generalization.

5.8 Ethical considerations

When performing this research I have faced a number of ethical challenges. Kvale believes that social scientific research needs to benefit both scientific and human interests (Brinkmann&Kvale 2009). I definitely intend for this thesis to do so. It is my hope that IVF will benefit from the study, and thereby the children whom they aim to help. I also hope for the study to be of scientific value by the unorthodox use of storytelling as a way of collecting information. Brückner and Schömbucher speak about the new perspectives that linguistic analysis opens up in the interpretation of culture, especially since it is interpretations the informants themselves make of social life (Brückner&Schömbucher 2004). They also stress the importance of considering "in addition to the content (...) the sender as well as the receiver of the linguistic utterances, the mode of transmission, and the scenario of the communication" (Brückner&Schömbucher 2004:243). This I try to do as much as I can by defining myself as the researcher, and by describing my method and the situation in which the

information was collected. Brückner and Schömbucher point out the problem of deciding what should be included in "context" (Brückner&Schömbucher 2004), and to me it seems that such a decision will always be arbitrary.

The Swedish Research Council has set up guidelines for social scientific research. These guidelines consist of four main requirements concerning information, consent, confidentiality and utilisation (Vetenskapsrådet 2011-09-20). The Indian National Committee for Ethics in Social Science Research in Health (NCESSRH) has set up ethical guidelines with similar goals, although they are slightly more comprehensive. Their general principles are:

- 1. Essentiality
- 2. Maximisation of public interest and of social justice
- 3. Knowledge, ability and commitment to do research
- 4. Respect and protection of autonomy, rights and dignity of participants
- 5. Privacy, anonymity and confidentiality
- 6. Precaution and risk minimisation
- 7. Non-exploitation
- 8. Public domain (keeping everyone involved informed)
- 9. Accountability and transparency
- 10. Totality of responsibility (every person involved in performing the research is responsible for ethical considerations)

(NCESSRH 2011-10-16)

Within the frames of this study I have strived to meet all these requirements. The children have been informed about the purpose of the research as far as possible. I did not want the informants to be too prepared as I wanted their stories to be told as spontaneously as possible. The matter of consent is a bit complicated. I chose to let the children decide for themselves whether they wanted to take part in the study or not. To find out who is legally responsible for each one of them and to find that person in order to obtain their consent would be impossible

within the frames of this study since the parents (the ones who are alive and legally responsible for their children) are spread in and out of jail in vast areas in India. Choosing the children to be the informants of the study was based on IVF's wishes, in order to improve the CVF project and to describe the children's experience of the project to possible funders. The children's participation is thereby aimed at enhancing their own life conditions. I instructed the informants to make up names for every character in the stories, but to tell me their real age for my analysis. Seeing as the stories are anonymous and as the research will hopefully benefit the children's life situation, I feel that it is acceptable that the children took this decision for themselves. The anonymity issue leads us to confidentiality, which I have stressed firmly in this study. The original material has been kept in a folder and copies on a USB flash drive. I am the only one who has read the stories. Even I myself do not know who wrote which story, as I specifically told the informants not to write their real names. The names used in the quotes are fictive and chosen by the children themselves and no informant will be pointed-out. The fact that I have not read any of the informants' background files makes it impossible for me to even guess who wrote which story. This has also got to do with utilisation. For any help that the IVF staff offered me, I considered the need for it in order to perform the research. I was hesitant beforehand whether it was really a good idea for me to visit the children's homes. I was convinced by several people that it would be good for my background understanding to see where the children come from and what the alternative would be if the children were not included in the IVF efforts. In the end, I found it helpful in those ways. The issue of accountability and transparency is dealt with in the sections "5.7 Validity, Reliability and Generalizability" and "5.9 My role as the researcher". By speaking of children of incarcerated parents as a vulnerable group and writing and publishing this thesis, I risk prolonging the stigma surrounding them. Bearing this in mind, I believe that my intent with writing this thesis, to improve the situation for these children by helping IVF motivate (and maybe even increase) their funding, makes up for that. Kvale stresses the need to consider the benefit of the human situation being studied (Brinkmann&Kvale 2009). Hopefully this study will help IVF in their work and with funding. By having a thesis written about their work and the children, they hopefully will gain more recognition. With better funding, the organisation will be able to help the children even more.

5.9 My role as the researcher

Kerlinger formulates the major problem of behavioural observations as *the researcher himself*, both by him/her being part of the measuring instrument and by his/her interference. Kerlinger speaks of the problem of the observer influencing the object. The object may behave in a different way than she would normally do, to communicate something to the observer. (Kerlinger 2010) Although, as Kerlinger says, "a teacher cannot do what she cannot do" (Kerlinger 2010:539). He advises the observer to be "unobtrusive and not to give the people observed the feeling that judgements are being made" in order to minimize the problem of the object behaving in a way that would decrease the study's reliability (Kerlinger 2010:539). Kerlinger appeals to the ideal of the observer being unobtrusive, but I chose a different approach. I chose to define myself and take a clear role in the situation in order to create a trusting relationship to the informants to achieve valuable information. I was told that the informants might have trust issues, and advised to build a relationship with them before asking them any questions. I was participant, and I believe that it was the best way to go about it.

Defining myself might include me being a 26-year old female white Swedish Social Work student with a background in language- and culture studies. I have lived abroad for a considerable part of my adult life. Out of that time one year was as a student in China and one as a student in Egypt. Both these cultures are considered collectivistic. Having lived there for an extended amount of time, I believe that I have another way of perceiving the Indian culture than the average Swedish person of my age. I had before conducting this study visited India once before, and thereby had a sense of what the culture is like. While doing the research I stayed with my very good Indian friend who was my constant source of feedback, advice and explanation. My internship, within the Social Work Programme, in an institution for infants with families gave me a lot of knowledge about infant- and child psychology. One of the main goals of the work at the institution is to support the attachment between parent and child. The theories that make the foundation of the work at the institution are suited for the individualistic Swedish society with its nuclear family norm. They do not automatically apply to the Indian society. What the internship did do was to inspire the choice of thesis topic, and give me useful tools for the observations of behaviour and interpreting non-verbal communication. I am aware of the fact that I represent something in the research situation, from my mere appearance and background. India is a country with a history of colonialisation. I come from the same part of the world as the former colonial rulers of the country, which the colour of my skin illustrates. Diving into what this might mean in the research situation would be too much to handle for this thesis, so I will leave it at saying that I know that I represent *something* which will influence how I am related to by people in India.

6. Analytical framework – Definition of theories and concepts

The theories which I have chosen are all suitable for any cultural context, as they are not normative. They do not say that phenomena, behaviour and relations are good or bad, but only that they exist. The theories used are Coping Theory (within which I focus on meaning-making), Human Ecology Theory and Narratology (focusing on tellability).

6.1 Coping Theory

The concept of coping was introduced by Lazarus (1993) and enabled research on how people deal with stressful situations. Coping can be described as a conscious cognitive strategy for handling a situation. Coping strategies can be divided into *problem-focused* and *emotion-focused* ones. Problem-focused coping aims at changing the practical situation, whereas emotion-focused coping aims at changing the reaction to the situation. Coping can be studied with a *process approach* or a *style approach*. The process perspective holds that coping changes over time and depends on situational context, while the style perspective accentuates individual characteristics. To briefly describe the process perspective, important factors are that there are no universally good or bad coping processes, that people will alter their coping strategies according to the consequences/feedback they meet, and that coping is able to change the emotional outcome of the situation. The style perspective is focused on inner psychodynamics rather than social elements (Lazarus 1993). I have chosen coping theory in order to analyse how the informants deal with their reality. My focus concerning coping in this thesis is mainly on meaning-making.

6.1.1 Meaning-making

There are many different definitions of *meaning*. It might be seen as general life orientation, personal significance, causality, coping activities, and as an outcome of stressful situations. Within the coping process it might be defined as reevaluating events, explaining reasons for events, and evaluating the outcome of events. The word 'meaning' will in this thesis be used

in terms of significance and purpose. Meaning as purpose refers to "beliefs that organize, justify, and direct a person's strivings" (Folkman&Park 1997:119). Folkman and Park believe that goals make a central element of a person's meaning system. Division can be made between global meaning (a person's enduring beliefs and valued goals) and situational meaning (meaning formed in interaction between global meaning and circumstances of a given situation). Global meaning is said to influence "people's understanding of the past and the present, and it influences their expectations regarding the future" (Folkman&Park 1997:116). Global meaning is in general described as "an accumulation of life experiences" (Folkman&Park 1997:119). Situational meaning consists of appraisal of meaning (assessment of significance), search for meaning in a situation, and meaning as outcome (assessment of consequence). In many ways, situational meaning is modified by global meaning. Meaningmaking can be defined as an attempt to reduce discrepancies between situational and global meanings. This is a fluent process where meaning depends on the present relationship to the event/matter (Folkman&Park 1997). In this study we get a glimpse into how the informants make meaning in their lives at the moment of the research, and from the place in the process where they are at that moment.

6.2 The Human Ecology Theory

I am using the Human Ecology Theory to explain how IVF intervenes in the children's lives. Bronfenbrenner founded the Human Ecology Theory, which claims that human development is a result of interaction between the person and his surroundings (Meeuwisse 2002). The person to a certain extent creates his surroundings, at the same time as the surroundings change. Bronfenbrenner claims that the different factors that affect a person's development depend on and moderate each other. What distinguishes the theory is that it does not only admit the significance of both individual and surrounding, but also the interaction between the two. According to the theory people should be studied in their natural habitat. The theory is amongst other things based on Bronfenbrenner's cross-cultural research on children's upbringing. A person's surroundings can be studied on different levels. The human ecology theory uses four levels:

• The micro system

This level deals with interpersonal matters. The most important elements are

relationships, roles and activities. The micro system level includes for example family, friends and colleagues.

• The meso system

The factor that structures the environment of the micro systems. Examples of meso systems might include schools, churches and sports teams.

• The exo system

The exo system consists of factors not included in the individual's immediate surroundings which still affect him. It takes place on a community level. School organisation and local politics are examples of factors which indirectly affect a child's development prerequisites.

• The macro system

Macro systems include culture, ideology, religion and politics. It is the highest level in the ranking of systems and contains the other levels within it.

(Meeuwisse 2002)

I chose this theory because of how IVF focuses their work on both the development of the individual, on different systems in the individual's surroundings, and on the individual's participation in society.

6.3 Narratology

I will be using narrative analysis for interpreting the children's life stories. Kvale quotes Mishler on how storying is one of the human cognitive and linguistic forms with which people organize and express meaning and knowledge (Brinkmann&Kvale 2009). McAdams says that "our narrative identities are the stories we live by" (Hühn 2009:137). Because of this, I find narrative analysis an appropriate method for analysing how the informants make meaning in their lives. A narrative is a story and, in the sense which is used in this thesis, also the organization of "a sequence of events into a whole so that the significance of each event can be understood through its relation to that whole" (Elliot 2005:3). This implies not only looking at the parts or the whole, but also the two combined. Not every utterance is a narrative. To be classified as a narrative, the information needs to have chronological, meaningful and social qualities (Elliot 2005). Bruce Jackson explains that "Life itself has no narrative. It is serial and multiple: a million things happening at once, and then another million things happening at once, forever and ever. Narrative is one of the ways in which we

apply order to that unimaginable overabundance of information" (Jackson 2007:4). Narratology can be used to find patterns of behaviour and resilience, which has made it a popular way of gathering information in criminological studies (Elliot 2005). Although this study does not investigate criminal behaviour, the method is useful in order to see if the informants tell about the role criminality has taken in their lives. Within narrative analysis content or form can be focused upon (Elliot 2005). As has been explained in the piece on limitations, there were language issues. The focus of this thesis is therefore on content rather than form. Hühn also talks about the issue of retrospectiveness, and refers to how the told stories might differ from the actual events (Hühn 2009). In this thesis I do not see that as a problem, as the question is how the informants tell the stories of their lives *today* and *in this context*. Jackson describes story-telling as "active, organic, responsive, reactive; it is here and now" (Jackson 2007), which agrees with my intentions. The purpose of narratives is not to "transparently reflect experience, rather they give meaning to it" (Elliot 2005:24).

6.3.1 Tellability

For the analysis I will focus on tellability. Tellability is sometimes referred to as "narratibility" and is a measure of the worth of the information. The storyteller decides what to tell based on what he finds significant. (Hühn 2009) By looking at what the informants found tellable, I will draw conclusions about their ways of making meaning in their lives.

7. Empirical results and Analysis

Kerlinger explains analysis as "the categorizing, ordering, manipulating, and summarizing of data to obtain answers to research questions" (Kerlinger 2010:134). I will do just that with firstly the observations and secondly the life stories. The observations are analysed using Human Ecology Theory and Coping Theory. Both problem-focused and emotion-focused coping are included in the analysis of the observations. The life stories are analysed narratively focusing on emotion-focused coping, and especially on meaning-making. The observations and the life stories will here be presented separately, and brought together and compared in the section "Concluding remarks".

7.1 Observations

The material includes information based on what I have seen and on conversations I have had during the observations.

At first the children were a bit reserved towards me, but lightened up quickly. For every time I visited them they seemed to trust me more and more. IVF staff warned me beforehand that the children might be quite hesitant towards me and that this is a strategy they have learnt from their upbringing in unsafe surroundings where it is important not to trust every person around them.

What struck me the most on the first visit was to what extent the IVF staff gets personally engaged with the children. I was told that the female staff members become a type of elder sisters for the children. Sometimes staff members even in their spare time see the children's well-being as their own personal mission, and for example go to great lengths to make them come back to school after their leave. During my visits I witnessed the staff encouraging the children, guiding them in everyday matters and bigger life matters and disciplining them in practical matters. In other words IVF works with the children's coping abilities with both problem-focus and emotion-focus (Lazarus 1993). Chattoraj reports on how the children's socialization patterns from their upbringing might hinder them if they later go to middle class school. They might there be labelled and experience feelings of inadequacy, which might in turn lead them to making unfortunate decisions (Chattoraj 2006). Bearing this in mind, IVF meets an actual need when disciplining the children. The disciplining includes for example dealing with misbehaviour and giving the children tasks such as brushing teeth or hair. Performance of the tasks was evaluated every week. The children were ordered to look out for and take care of each other. The disciplining can be a practical coping strategy in order to ease the children's meeting with parts of society that follows other social codes than the ones which the children are familiar with. Whenever the children had any questions or needed someone to talk to, they could turn to the IVF staff. When visiting a school that an IVF staff member had not had the chance to visit in three months, it was obvious how vulnerable this emotional bond is and how important it is to keep it going on a regular basis. The staff member really struggled to re-connect with the children to be able to counsel them. The IVF staff frequently used their personal lives when bonding with the children. This was done to a certain extent. They could for example talk about their own family or upbringing. Their private lives were used to bond and share joy, like when a staff member gave the children sweets to celebrate her sister's childbirth, and for comfort and recognition, like when a staff member talked of how she herself had had family problems while growing up.

The surrounding conditions are vital in Human Ecology Theory (Meeuwisse 2002) and shape the person's global meaning (Folkman&Park 1997). I was informed by IVF staff that the children are better off under the IVF protection than without it. Even with facts such as children sometimes being caned by teachers, being forced to study only Christianity no matter their own religion, and being bullied by other children for their parents' incarceration, they are said to be better off than the alternative of staying in the areas which they are from. The staff members claim that IVF intervenes in the children's surroundings to keep the children safe and help increase their social mobility. That staying in school is the better option is also what children themselves told me. When talking to a group of 15-year old Hindu and Muslim girls (without anyone else around), I asked them about about the religion issue. They just giggled a bit and said that they did not really care. They were just thankful for the opportunity of schooling. I met one girl in the community visit who had dropped out of the school where I performed the life story research. She told me the reason she left was that she did not get along with one of the wardens at her school. When she spoke up to this warden she was told that it was not her place to criticize. When I after talking to her ran the story by one of the IVF staff who knew her exact story, she said that I had not been told the full story and that the girl was probably making excuses to justify leaving the school. What she said she missed was the unity with the girls at school and the spare time she had there. In her daily life back in the slum she needed to commute far to go to the local school and spend a lot of time doing chores at home.

IVF also try to talk parents out of marrying their young daughters off. In many cases they succeed, in some they do not. Although Indian law requires 18 years of age for women and 21 years for men in order to get married, there are still cases where girls of 12 years and even younger are getting married today. Keeping the girls in school instead of making them become housewives provides them with all the benefits that education leads to, such as literacy, increased social mobility and better health.

From what I have been told, the IVF staff aim to facilitate the children's schooling and good relations with teachers without being "middle-men". This means not running errands for the children when there is something they are unhappy about, but helping them to communicate this to whom it concerns. The staff members do not intend to take over the children's interpersonal relationships, but offer facilitation. On one of the visits the children practiced

self-presentations. They were told that it is important to be able to present oneself in order to get anywhere in the world. On another visit a staff member told the children a story about a woman who started a bakery from scratch and advised the children to nourish their talents and hobbies as they might become their career one day. These interventions show that IVF teach the children practical coping-strategies to prepare them for the future. One of the basics of Human Ecology Theory is that the individual is constantly affected by a changing surrounding (Meeuwisse 2002), and this is how IVF meets that challenge concerning the children's future.

In order to encourage the children to be participant members of society, IVF organizes outings. These serve as exposure trips for the children. Chattoraj has pointed out the risks linked to children being raised in jail and not ever having seen the world outside the prison walls. (Chattoraj 2006) One can only imagine what it must be like to handle the world outside of prison, when having spent the first 5 years on the inside. The exposure intervention is necessary in order to claim that IVF works according to the concept of Human Ecology Theory, as they work with interaction between individual and surrounding rather than only working on the two parts separately. In terms of Human Ecology Theory, the efforts of IVF are performed on different levels. On a micro system level IVF relate to and counsel the children and facilitate their close relationships. On a meso level they place the children in safe surroundings where they are educated and they try to influence the parents' decisions about the children's future. The outings and exposure trips they take the children on help the children on an exo level to be participant members of society. By inviting researchers like myself, IVF also works on a macro level inviting academic research to theorize, analyse and hopefully contribute to their work and the societal view on the children. (Meeuwisse&Swärd 2002)

7.2 Life stories

The 27 life stories differed in length. The shortest story included 42 words and the longest one included 822 words. The average story included 215 words. They included everything from difficult memories and manifestations of friendship, to dreams for the future. After every heading below, a collection of quotes are presented to illustrate how these mentions were made.

7.2.1 Mention of future goals

"Her aim is to become doctor to treat everyone."

"Then her father and mother said her to do college. She do all the things that her both father and mother want and after completing her studies they married their daughter in good and rich family. And their daughter and they also spend a good life."

"Then suddenly her father said to her I will do you married with one good intelligent boy. They are all decorating the house one day was got married and gone her whole life. You know this is how her story end. One thing more she is having two babies both were very qute."

"Her aim is to become engineer."

Although the first instruction I told the informants was that I wanted their stories up until present time, 15 of them went on into the future talking about families and careers. Dreams about the future are important enough to make the informants forget or ignore the number-one instruction for the story. 4 informants say that their goal in life is to help other people. One informant expresses her wishes for the future as: "*Prachi want to become a good girl in her life and help other people like others help Prachi.*" It seems that dreams about the future are a substantial part of the informants' experience of present time. The study thereby agrees with Folkman's and Park's suggestion about goals being a central element of a person's meaning system (Folkman&Park 1997). There is no correlation between mention of future and different age groups.

7.2.2 Mention of incarceration

"One day police had caught Nisha's mother as Nisha was too small her mother took Nisha to jail with her."

"Once there was a girl her father was in jail. He was caught with stealing the golden. The policeman beating her father badly."

"Once there was a girl who was born in jail. Her mother was caught in murder case. She was very unhappy."

"Once upon a time there was one husband and wife. They had two children one boy and one girl. They loved their children so much. The boy name is Sunny and the girl name is Prachi. They are happy family but one day the world around them changed. The wife Miss Tanya is in jail when Sunny was 4 years old and Prachi was 2 years old."

Only 6 of the 27 informants mention their parent's incarceration at all. The informants mentioning incarceration are 11 years old or older. Tellability is a measure of the worth of the

information (Hühn 2009), and it is noticeable that the rate of mention is so low. Many of the informants who do not mention incarceration tell of other things that are also looked down upon in society, such as drug abuse and violence. The ones who mention the future are all very optimistic, and not a single one of them mention any worry of turning to criminality themselves. Another interesting fact concerning the mention of incarceration is that the word "jail" is used in every case. Whenever the IVF staff talk about where the informants' parents are, they use the word "ashram" (which can be translated as a sort of retreat centre) in order not to offend the children. When the children consistently use the word "jail", they show that they are aware of where their parents actually are or have been, and they do not tell it by using other names for the place. Research has shown that the support children of incarcerated parents receive depends on the amount of stigma in the surrounding society (Riksbryggan 1 2011-04-20, Riksbryggan 2 2011-04-20). Learning not to mention the incarceration in public might be a practical coping strategy.

7.2.3 Mention of family

"This is the story of girl name Nisha was born on August 12th in poor family. Nisha was having 2 big sister and she was the youngest."

"There was one girl. Her name was Sunita. She was having two brothers Amit and Shivam."

Amit was smaller than Shivam."

22 of the informants mention their families. Only 2 informants mention missing their parent(s). 3 informants explicitly point out that they base their goals on their parents' wishes, as is exemplified in this story: "As per the wishes of her father she loves to become an engineer. She will surely attain that target for her father". Folkman and Park claim goals to be of great importance (Folkman&Park 1997) and basing them on parents' wishes and demands therefore signals the parents' importance. There is no pattern in mention of family concerning the age of the informant. One informant ends her story by getting restitution from her stepmother, who had been bad to her: "One day she saw her stepmother wearing dirty clothes and begging. Her stepmother said to Kanika 'SORRY MY BABY I AM VERY SORRY CAN I LIVE WITH YOU' Kanika said it's OK! From then onwards they live happily". In this presumably fictional ending, the informant illustrates both her hurt feelings and her wish for reconciliation. When analysing meaning-making it is important to take into account the

relation between detail and entity (Elliot 2005). The informants who do mention family generally place the family in the centre of the story, showing its significance.

7.2.4 Using friend as main feature

"There was a girl Soni, She always help others. Soni had a friend name Parvati. If Parvati have any problems Soni solve it. If Parvati did not done her homework Soni give him copy. They were best of friends and happy."

"Once there was a girl named Varsha. Varsha love a friend named Pinky. They were the best of friends. They know all the secrets of together. They play together. They eat together. They spent time together."

5 of the informants used their friends as the main feature in their stories. Using friends as the main feature was the most common among the youngest informants. As mentioned in the section above, it is important to analyse the relation between detail and entity (Elliot 2005). The stories included in this section revolved completely around one particular friendship. Interestingly enough there is a correlation between informants who do not mention family and who use a friend to be the main feature of their story. Analysing this correlation using Coping Theory leads me to consider the possibility of the children substituting one important relationship with another. All the stories were relationship-oriented, no matter if the children mentioned family or focused on friendships.

7.2.5 Mention of school

"This is about the life of Rani. She was a girl studied in hostel with orphanage children."

"Because of poverty her father was unable to fulfil her demands. Teena got admission in one residential school through her father."

"Prachi was studying in hostel she always thanks God for everything he had done for her."

"But Nisha was the lucky child because very nice English Medium School. She was very happy in the hostel."

"After 5 month her father married with another lady. She was very bad and Kanika don't want to call her mom. Her stepmother put Kanika in a convent hostel."

18 of the informants mentioned school. In most cases school was mentioned as something positive, and in the rest it was dealt with as a neutral phenomenon. It was never spoken of in

negative terms. In most cases the school is referred to as a "hostel" as this is what they call residential schools. The older girls mention school to a higher extent than the younger ones. Not one single informant mentions IVF. Seeing as schooling might be the most apparent effect of IVF in the eyes of the children, mention of school might also be seen as an indirect mention of IVF.

7.2.6 Switching to first-person

"One day Nisha's mother was fighting with one lady because of work that lady was not doing his work that's why Nisha's mother was fighting (...) one women police had hit <u>my</u> mother with big and fat stick that time Nisha's mother died in jail."

"But when she was at the age of 3 or 4 years old someone gave some drugs to <u>my</u> father's coffee and from that day her father started taking drugs and her father stopped working and he didn't bring any toys for her."

4 of the informants on one or more occasions switched to first-person telling, contradicting my instructions. There is also an example where the word "my" is crossed out and replaced by "her". As shown in the examples it occurs in the middle of sentences where third-person is generally used. It also seems to occur in extraordinarily sensitive and emotional parts of the stories.

8. Concluding remarks to the study

I here discuss the results of the observations and the life stories. The two parts are discussed together, compared and used to illustrate each other.

The restrictive reactions of the children who had not met the IVF staff in a while signal the importance of the relation. It was much more common to see positive display of affection between the children and the IVF staff, but in my eyes the restrictive reaction is just as valuable in showing the importance of the relationship. Only the ones we care about can stir up such feelings. The children clearly find the relationship to the staff meaningful. I believe that the staff by using their own lives in bonding with the children make this relationship stronger. Relationships appear to be the one most important ingredient in the life stories. Whether it is relationships to family or friends, all the stories revolve around relations to others.

The girl I met at the community visit who dropped out of school fascinated me. Her life after dropping out, as she described it to me, seemed much more difficult than her former life at the boarding school. Maybe she valued being close to her family higher than education? What fascinates me even more than her dropping out is that the absolute majority *do not* drop out. No matter how harshly treated they are in some of the schools, they find their education meaningful. The importance of education is also expressed in the life stories. The fact that IVF stresses the importance of contact with the children's relatives and home communities might be one reason for the children to endure the boarding school life.

It is clear that IVF not only work with providing the children with education and a safe environment, but also intervene on an individual level. Working on self-presentation and encouraging the children to handle their own conflicts with some help is, I believe, vital for their future social lives. The children's agency is encouraged, which I believe is a good thing so as not to let them view themselves as solely dependent persons. Knowing the probable limitations of these children's social mobility, the IVF staff advise them accordingly (like the example with the bakery) to make the best out of their possibilities. They do not try to convince them of anything else. These really are coping strategies in practice and, I believe, play a major role in the children's meaning-making.

The staff members' strategy of applying issues being discussed on their own lives surprised me as I am used to a professional ideal of leaving your personal life outside of the work situation. This seems to be the prevailing ideal amongst social workers in Sweden. My reflection from seeing the IVF staff members' strategy is that it seems to work well with the children. Being personal might contribute with some sense of normalisation. By showing their own strengths and weaknesses, the staff can inspire and comfort the children. This probably means a lot to how the children view themselves and to the relationship between children and staff.

The fact that so many informants included the future in their stories in spite of my instructions makes me believe that they use dreams for the future to make meaning in their lives at present. The low rate of mention of incarceration surprised me, especially since the incarceration is the reason that they are at all included in the CVF project. It might be because of shame. Another explanation might be that the majority of the informants do not, or do not want to, define themselves and their lives by their parent's incarceration. Many informants

who did not mention incarceration mentioned other things which I know are seen as shameful in the Indian society, which leads me to believe that it is not because of shame that incarceration is omitted from these stories. Using the word jail rather than circumscribing it seems to be a healthy way to handle the incarceration in my opinion. In Sweden, the general policy for social workers working with children of incarcerated parents is to be honest and speak openly to the children about the situation. India being a country where face-saving is important, I understand the need for the Indian social workers to use circumscribing. It can ultimately be a matter of respect. One question I come to think of concerning this is what it does with the children's meaning making. Does circumscribing lead the children to think that the incarceration is something not to be spoken about? If so, is that maybe a fact necessary to learn in order to be accepted in society? It might in fact be a clever practical coping strategy. I believe that circumscribing gives the children a message which will matter for their meaning making, although if it is that incarceration is something that shouldn't be mentioned or if it is that the children feel respected and saved from losing face, I do not know.

The fact that not all informants mentioned family surprised me as I expected them all to mention their families, being as young as they are and being part of a collectivistic culture. One reason might be that some of the informants lack a network of relatives. During the school holiday, a number of the informants do not have anywhere to go and are forced to stay at school. A thought I had when noticing the correlation between using a friend as the main feature of the story and not mentioning family was that the informants might want to fill the void of the absent family with another important relationship. I cannot possibly know if it is the children who lack a network of relatives that do not mention family. Regardless of this, an interesting fact is that when the children omit family, they let another relationship dominate the story. I cannot help but wonder if they value that friendship as being their most important relationship in life. Choosing someone else to be the centre of attention in the stories might also be a sign of the informants not wanting to share their stories, but also not wanting to refuse to participate.

As the research was conducted in their school, as schooling is the main feature provided to the children by IVF, and as this is the main fact that differentiates them from other children with incarcerated parents who are not involved in the CVF project, I expected more of them to mention school. The older girls mentioning school to higher extent agrees with my

expectations on the older girls to, because of their age and maturity, be more aware of their own life situation and the role education plays in their lives.

Something that contradicted my expectations was the non-existing mention of IVF. I thought there would be distinct expressions of gratitude. As I wrote in the section "7.2.5 Mention of school", I believe mention of school might be an indirect mention of IVF. It might be difficult for the children to grasp what IVF actually does and on how many levels IVF is active in their lives. The most obvious and substantial effect of IVF that the children can see in their lives is probably that they get to go to school, which is mentioned by 18 informants.

The CVF children appear to make meaning in their lives especially through relationships, education and future goals. Incarceration does not appear to be the most meaningful aspect in the children's lives. Global meaning can be described as the accumulated experience of a person's life (Folkman&Park 1997). IVF works with the children on different levels and is able to influence their lives from several directions. The conclusion that I have drawn about IVF's contribution to the children's meaning-making is that IVF, by altering the children's life conditions, alter the premises for their global meaning-making and thereby also their situational meaning-making. IVF seems to have an immense effect on the children's meaning-making. The factors that the children express as being the most important (education, relationships and future goals) cohere with the interventions of India Vision Foundation. Whether the children's values are shaped by being included in the project, or India Vision Foundation has found the true needs of the children, I cannot judge. What I can say is that they are working in the same direction.

For future research it would be interesting to study CVF boys in order to make a gender comparison on meaning-making. It would also be valuable to hear the stories of children in other areas of India, as the Indian society is so complex and contains a wide variety of life conditions.

9. Bibliography

9.1 Books

Ahuja, R. (1997) Social Problems in India. Jaipur: Rawat Publications.

Barker-Hackett, L. & Mio, J.S. & Tumambing, J. (2009) *Multicultural psychology – Understanding our diverse communities*. Boston: McGraw-Hill Higher Education.

Brinkmann, S. & Kvale, S. (2009) *Den kvalitativa forskningsintervjun*. Lund: Studentlitteratur AB.

Brückner, H. & Schömbucher, E. (2004) "Performances" in *Handbook of Indian Sociology*, Das, V. (ed.). New Delhi: Oxford University Press.

Chattoraj, B.N. (2006) *Children of women prisoners in Indian jails*. New Delhi: Lok Nayak Jayaprakash Narayan National Institute of Criminology and Forensic Science, Ministry of Home Affairs, Govt of India.

Das, V. (ed.) (2004) Handbook of Indian Sociology. New Delhi: Oxford University Press.

DeWalt, B.R. & DeWalt, K.M. (2002) *Participant observation – A guide for fieldworkers*. California: AltaMira Press.

Dréze, J. (2004) "Patterns of Literacy and their Social Context" in *Handbook of Indian Sociology*, Das, V. (ed.). New Delhi: Oxford University Press.

Elliott, J. (2005) *Using narrative in Social Research - Qualitative and quantitative approaches*. London: Sage.

Gupta, D. (2004) "Aspects on Social Life" in *Handbook of Indian Sociology*, Das, V. (ed.). New Delhi: Oxford University Press.

Hühn, P. (2009) Handbook of Narratology. New York: Walter de Gruyter.

Jackson, B. (2007) *The story is true – The art and meaning of telling stories*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.

Jha, M. (1994) *An introduction to Indian anthropological thought*. New Delhi: Vikas Publishing House PVT LTD.

Kakar, S. (1996) *Indian Identity*. New Delhi: Penguin Books.

Kerlinger, F. N. (2010) Foundations of Behavioural Research. Delhi: Surject Publications.

Kumar, H. (1994) *Social Work – An experience and experiment in India*. New Delhi: Gitanjali Publishing House.

Larsson, S. & Lilja, J. & Mannheimer, K. (2005) Forskningsmetoder i socialt arbete. Lund: Studentlitteratur.

May, T. (2001) *Social Research – Issues, methods and process*. Buckingham: Open University Press.

Meeuwisse, A. & Swärd, H. (2002) *Perspektiv på sociala problem*. Stockholm: Natur och Kultur.

Nagla, B.K. (2008) *Indian Sociological thought*. Jaipur: Rawat Publications.

Retzlaff, J. & Thomassen, M. (2007) *Vetenskap, kunskap och praxis – Introduktion till vetenskapsfilosofi*. Malmö: Gleerups Utbildning.

Singh, Y. (2000) *Culture Change in India – Identity & Globalization*. Jaipur: Rawat Publications.

Tax, S. (2009) "Action Anthropology" in *Applied Anthropology in India*, Vidyarthi, L.P. (ed.). Allahabad: Kitab Mahal.

Uberoi, P. (2004) "Family, Childhood and Education" in *Handbook of Indian Sociology*, Das, V. (ed.). New Delhi: Oxford University Press.

9.2 Articles

Folkman, S. & Park, C.L. (1997) "Meaning in the Context of Stress and Coping" in *Review of General Psychology*, 1, 2, 115-144.

Lazarus, R.S. (1993) "Coping Theory and Research: Past, Present and Future" in *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 55, 234-247.

9.3 Internet sources

Balagopalan

http://chd.sagepub.com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/content/18/3/291.full.pdf+html (2011-09-18)

Chen

http://gradworks.umi.com/33/89/3389976.html (2011-09-18)

India Vision Foundation

www.indiavisionfoundation.org (2011-04-20)

NCESSRH

http://www.cehat.org/publications/ethical2.html (2011-10-16)

Riksbryggan 1

http://www.riksbryggan.se/Download/Att_ha_pappa_i_fangelse.pdf (2011-04-20)

Riksbryggan 2

http://www.riksbryggan.se/Download/Riksbryggan12sidR2 final.pdf (2011-04-20)

Vetenskapsrådet

http://www.codex.vr.se/texts/HSFR.pdf (2011-09-20)

10. Appendix

The directions I gave for the assignment were:

- 1. Tell me your life stories from the day you were born up until present day.
- 2. Tell it as a fairy-tale:
- Tell it in third person.
- Make up names for every person involved.
- Feel free to change details as long as the story is still yours.
- 3. Tell me what you want to tell me. I trust you to tell me what you find important. If there is anything you do not want to tell me, feel free to leave it out.
- 4. Do not write your name. Write only your age.
- 5. Participate only if you want to.